### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC03-1241 LT CASE NO.: 92-3708

GERALD D. MURRAY Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD R. KURITZ, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No: 0972540

1301 Riverplace Boulevard, Suite 2600

Jacksonville, Florida 32207 Telephone: (904) 355-1999 Facsimile: (904) 399-5980 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Gerald D. Murray, will be referred to herein by name as "Defendant", "Appellant", or "Murray". The Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State" or "prosecution". References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R", the supplement to the record will be referred to as SR, and reference to relevant page set forth in brackets.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant was arrested for first degree murder, burglary, and sexual battery on September 18, 1993. This Appeal is from the Appellant's fourth trial. The first trial was reversed at <a href="Murray vs. State">Murray vs. State</a>, 692 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1997) (referred to as Murray I); the second trial resulted in a hung jury; the third trial was reversed at <a href="Murray vs. State">Murray vs. State</a>, 838 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 2002) (referred to as Murray II). The jury in the fourth trial returned a verdict of guilty of Murder in the First Degree as to Count I, guilty of Burglary with an Assault as to Count II, and guilty of Sexual Battery with great force as to Count III (V. 402-404).

At trial, the State initially called Linda Engler, who testified that she was a friend of the victim, Alice Vest. She testified that she had gone shopping with her on Saturday, September 15, 1990. She testified the victim called at about 11:30 and told her she had gotten home and that she was safe. (V. 12 P.403). She testified

that the following morning, Sunday, September 16th, 1990, she called Ms. Vest and was not able to reach her on the telephone (V. 12 P. 404).

The State introduced evidence at trial that on September 15, 1990, the Appellant, Gerald Delane Murray, and his neighbor, James Fisher, picked up Steven Taylor and drove to The Corner Pocket on San Jose Boulevard in Jacksonville, Florida. (V. 12 P. 410-415). Afterwards, Mr. Fisher dropped off Mr. Murray and Mr. Taylor at the corner of Deeder and Herdon Streets, near Mr. Murray's home. (V. 12 P. 420-421).

On September 16, 1990, the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office was contacted after neighbors of Ms. Vest found her dead in her mobile home, which was uncharacteristically in disarray. Jacksonville Sheriff's Office evidence technicians took photographs and collected physical evidence on September 16 and 18, 1990. At the scene of the alleged crime, pruning shears were found lying beneath cut telephone wires. Ms. Vest was found lying on her bed with a wire or cord wrapped around her neck. She had slice wounds and puncture wounds about her upper body. Other evidence seized from Ms. Vest's bedroom included a metal bar, a broken bottle, a paring knife, a brass candelabra, a pair of scissors and a web belt.

Two hairs were collected from the left leg and chest of Ms. Vest and sealed in an envelope. (V.5 P.792-804). The defense objected to any and all testimony regarding two hairs that were taken from the victim's body as evidence that had

been tampered with. (V. P. 514). Detective Chase testified that he personally removed two hair samples from the victim's body; one from the left leg and one from the chest area. Detective Chase also testified that at the time he took the two hairs, he didn't have a microscope, but it appeared to be two hairs. He testified he used a pair of rubber gloves and a pair of tweezers to actually lift the hairs off the body. He testified that he was not positive as to the number of hairs from each location. (V.5 P.792-804).

Upon cross-examination, he admitted that he had previously stated that it was two hairs he collected. He also admitted that when he wrote his initial report, shortly after actually seeing the hairs he retrieved, he wrote that he retrieved two hairs. When he testified in Murray's first trial, he testified he lifted two hairs from the victim's body. Detective Chase further testified that the envelope had been altered. He testified that he put his evidence tape on it and stapled it back in 1990 after placing the two hairs inside and now the envelope is missing his evidence tape. Detective Chase ended his testimony by confirming that at the time he collected the two hairs, he thought it was two hairs. (V.5 P.792-804). The State moved the exhibit into evidence over the defense's objection.

Anthony Smith, an inmate in the Duval County Jail, who escaped with Mr. Murray on November 22, 1992, testified for the State. Smith testified that Mr. Murray told Smith that Murray and a friend went to rob a house, had sexual

intercourse with the female occupant, stabbed and strangled the woman, and subsequently gathered valuables and left. (V.15 P.1010-1015). In exchange for that testimony, the State of Florida agreed to waive the death penalty in Mr. Smith's case. Mr. Smith pled guilty to first degree murder and was sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory of 25 years. At the time of his trial testimony, he was an eight-time convicted felon (V. 15 P.115). During sentencing in one of his eight felonies, he testified that he asked the Federal Judge "Who the fuck do you think you are? How can you sentence me to something I haven't been convicted of yet?" (V. 15 P.1019). Anthony Smith testified he would do anything to get out the death penalty "even if it meant deception". (V. 15 P. 1040).

The State called James Fisher, who testified that he drove the Appellant and co-defendant Taylor the evening of September 15, 1990. (V. 13 P. 633). He also testified that they were left at a business called The Corner Pocket, located on San Jose Boulevard, around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. Fisher testified that he woke up the next morning and did not see Mr. Murray for a couple of weeks. (V.13 P. 637).

The State called Juanita White to testify. Mrs. White died before Murray's fourth trial. The State requested permission to read her testimony from a previous trial. The court allowed the testimony to be read over the defense objection. The defense later renewed their objection and moved for a mistrial when the testimony of Juanita White and the prior testimony of Dr. Floro were read to the jury. The

court indicated that he would rule on the Motion for Mistrial later on in the trial. (V.13 P. 661).

Ms. White's testimony that was read to the jury was as follows, "[o]n September 15, 1990, at about twenty minutes until 1:00 a.m., she sent her dog into the barn and observed the Appellant and co-defendant Taylor run out of the barn away from the dog". She testified that she had a shotgun at the time. (V. 13 P. 652).

The State then called Cheavin Murray to testify. Cheavin Murray, the Appellant's brother, testified that on Sunday afternoon, September 16, 1990, he walked up to the Appellant and co-defendant Taylor and they "shooed" him away. (V.13 P.665).

John Wilson testified that, in his opinion, there was a shoeprint at the scene that was left by a Britannia make of shoe. (V.13 P.693). Following Mr. Wilson's testimony, the defense moved to strike the testimony, arguing that he did not have enough information to have an opinion one way or another as to whether the print depicted in the State's exhibit was a Britannia or not a Britannia. The Motion was denied. (V.13 P.744). Mr. Wilson testified that no evidence of Murray's fingerprints was found on any of the evidence seized. (V.13 P.681-715). The court noted the ongoing objection of the tampered hair evidence coming into evidence. (V.13 P.748).

The State showed a video of the crime scene and asked Officer LaForte about the scene while showing the video. (V.12 P.542). Officer Laforte testified that he collected a bottle of hand lotion and a white garment (nightie, rag) from the sink of the master bathroom and placed both items in a paper bag and sealed it with evidence tape. (V. 12 P.438). LaForte testified that because he found the items together, he wanted to keep them together for continuity. (V.12 P.430&542). However, he testified that the hand lotion was now in a plastic bag, but he did not put it in a plastic bag (V.12 P.469). LaForte testified that the lotion bottle was placed in the same paper bag and not a plastic bag, because plastic promotes the growth of mold and mildew and destroys evidence. (V.12 P.478). He further testified that he had never seen the plastic bag or the additional brown bag.(V.12 P.469).

Officer Powers testified that he, Officer LaForte, and Detective Chase were at the scene, and that he had no idea where the plastic bag containing the hand lotion came from (V.12 P.505). Powers testified he did not recall putting the plastic bag containing the lotion bottle inside a brown bag marked "States Exhibit 26" that had his initials and evidence tape on it. (V.12 P.505). Following his testimony, the defense renewed their objection to Detective Chase's testimony, arguing that the evidence had been tampered with.

In obtaining a search warrant, Detective O'Steen prepared an affidavit stating that Mr. Murray, with James Fisher, picked up Steven Taylor at a house where a pendant and English gold coin were found buried in the backyard. (V.15 P.960). The pendant and coin were alleged to have been missing from Ms. Vest's home. Detective O'Steen stated in his affidavit that Mr. Murray and Steven Taylor left town a few days after Ms. Vest's death.

Circuit Judge Santora signed the search warrant permitting the taking of blood, saliva, and hair samples. Subsequently, on February 15, 1991, Mr. Murray, who was incarcerated at Montgomery Correctional Center on an unrelated offense, was transported to the Police Memorial Building where he was questioned by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office personnel. Detective O'Steen requested Mr. Murray's consent for blood, saliva and hair samples. According to the detective, Mr. Murray acquiesced. Mr. Murray was taken to the clinic of the Duval County Jail. Murray asked to see the search warrant, which Detective O'Steen produced. The blood, saliva and hair samples were then collected. Detective O'Steen testified that after being read his Miranda Warnings, Murray stated the hair at the scene possibly came from when he pulled a bag of reefer out of his crotch and gave it to Taylor. (V.15 P.950-960).

The State called Joseph A. Dizinno to testify. Murray moved to exclude the testimony of Joseph A. Dizinno, a hair and fiber examination expert, on the basis

that his comparison of Mr. Murray's hairs to hairs found at the crime scene was irrelevant, as it failed to determine any degree of probability or certainty. (Vol. 14, P.876-943). The trial court denied this Motion.

During the State's presentation of its case, Dr. Bonafacio Floro's testimony was read to the jury over defense objection. Floro testified, as an expert, that Ms. Vest's death was a homicide caused by ligature strangulation and multiple stab wounds. Dr. Floro testified that Ms. Vest had bruising and abrasions on her breast and stab wounds on her chest, abdomen, back and thigh. (Vol. 13, P. 591-592). Dr. Floro stated that, in his opinion, the stab wounds were inflicted before the strangulation. Ms. Vest had a lacerated and broken jaw consistent with being hit with a broken bottle neck. Upon being given a hypothetical by the State, Dr. Floro stated that the evidence was consistent with Ms. Vest being strangled with three objects; a web belt, a leather belt, and a cord. Upon cross-examination, Dr. Floro was unsure as to how many individuals participated in the strangling. While he had testified at a previous trial that only one knife was utilized, at this trial he indicated scissors were used as well. Dr. Floro also testified that Ms. Vest suffered no defensive wounds, and that the medical evidence was consistent with her having been unconscious from near the onset of her attack. (Vol. 13, P. 591-592).

The State called Diane Hanson, a forensic serologist with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) (V.14 P.842). She stated that seminal

Taylor, but not with Mr. Murray. (V.14 P.858). Hanson testified that when she received the bag that contained the "white garment", she did not open it. She marked the bag and forwarded it to Katherine Warniment. Hanson testified that when she received the "white garment" back from Warniment, she tested it for blood and seminal stains and that neither were identified. Mr. Murray was eliminated as a donor of all blood and semen samplings found by Ms. Hanson. (V. 14 P.858).

Katherine Warniment, in the microanalysis section of FDLE, testified that on October 16, 1990, Dianne Hanson delivered six sealed items to her section. One of the six sealed items contained the "white garment". It was in a folded, stapled, sealed brown paper bag. When Warniment opened the sealed bag, there was no bottle of lotion inside. She never received a lotion bottle. (S.R. 4, P. 528). When Warniment opened the sealed bag containing the white garment that Evidence Technician LaForte had packaged, the lotion bottle was inside a plastic bag within the paper bag. The white garment was inspected for the presence of trace evidence. Hair was discovered on the garment, and those hairs were later forwarded for testing. Joseph Dizinno, a hair and fiber expert for the FBI, testified, over objection, that a Caucasian pubic hair found on the body of the victim had the same microscopic characteristics as the pubic hair of Mr. Murray. (Vol. 14, P.

905). Defense counsel objected on the basis of tampering in that Mr. Dizinno testified that the package he received had more than two hairs, even though the evidence technician who seized the hairs only obtained two. (Vol. 14, P. 932). Mr. Dizinno did not count the hairs, but based on his notes, he received between five and twenty-one hairs. Mr. Dizinno stated that the comparison of hair did not reveal an absolute positive identification. (Vol. 14, P. 933). Mr. Dizinno could not discount the possibility that the hair from the crime scene could have come from someone other than Mr. Murray. (Vol. 14, P. 933) Mr. Dizinno changed the name of the person he believes mounted the slides from the last trial to this trial. Dizinno testified on direct examination that his initials were on the envelope that Chase put the two hairs into. On cross-examination it was revealed he did not actually put his own initials on the envelope.

The jury found Gerald Murray guilty. Mr. Murray filed a Motion for New Trial. That Motion was denied. The penalty phase was conducted, and Mr. Murray presented no evidence on his behalf and instructed his lawyer not to present any evidence on his behalf. The jury returned a recommendation of a death sentence with a vote of 11 to 1. (Vol. 13, P. 1550). The Trial Judge sentenced the Defendant to death. (Vol. 9, P 1603). After the verdict, but before the penalty phase, the issue of Juror Misconduct was raised. The foreman was ultimately removed from the panel because after the verdict he went to his spiritual mentor to talk about the

verdict and the upcoming penalty phase. His spiritual mentor was Chief of Detectives Mackesy, from the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office.

Juror interviews were conducted to determine the extent of the other juror misconduct that occurred. It was then learned that the foreman had inquired of the bailiff if the jury could pray in the jury room. The foreman testified that the bailiff responded that they could indeed pray in the jury room. (Vol. 7, P. 1253). He further testified that the bailiff said as long as it was all right with everybody else (Vol. 7, P. 1252). Additionally, it was learned that a separate uniformed bailiff overheard the jury reach an agreement regarding the penalty phase prior to reaching a verdict in the guilt phase of the trial. The bailiff testified that the jury agreed to convict only if it was agreed that they would recommend a life sentence. Juror interviews were then conducted on that issue as well.

Mr. Murray timely filed his Notice of Appeal, and this appeal follows. There has been a lengthy delay due to the substitution of counsel and numerous attempts to supplement the record with transcripts from the previous three trials in this cause.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred by permitting the admission of hair evidence relating to slide Q42, despite indications of probable tampering. The Evidence Technician testified that his original testimony was that he took two hairs off the body of the victim. However, he changed his testimony after hearing the FBI Analyst testified that there were between 5 21 hairs in the evidence envelope.
- 2. The trial court erred by permitting the admission of hair evidence from slide Q20 despite indications of probable tampering and discovery violation regarding evidence. The State called a surprise witness to explain the discrepancy this Court acknowledged in <u>Murray vs. State</u>, 838 So.2d 1073 (2002).
- 3. The trial court erred by permitting Dizinno's hair and fiber testimony for the following reasons:
  - (a) His testimony did not meet the <u>Frye</u> standard. There were no protocols for hair and fiber analysis at the time of testing.
  - (b) There was no basis for Dizinno to testify that it was "rare" that he could not distinguish hairs from two separate individuals. Approximately 10 15% are not confirmed by DNA analysis.
  - (c) The court improperly denied Murray's request to cross-examine Dizinno on the fact that the FBI lab had been under investigation when Murray's hairs were in the lab.
  - (d) The court improperly denied Murray's request to cross-examine Dizinno on the fact that the lab Dizinno was supervising was under investigation at the time he was testifying.
  - (e) The court denied Murray's request to cross-examine Dizinno on the fact the lab he was supervising was under investigation at the time of Murray's trial.
- 4. The trial court erred by denying appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment for the following reasons:
  - (a) The indictment was returned by the Grand Jury based upon inadmissible, tampered, and misleading evidence.

- (b) The trial court erred by denying appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment based on double jeopardy. The defendant had been through three (3) separate trials and was forced to face his fourth; that several witnesses changed their testimony to conform to this Court's opinions reversing the previous convictions; that the passage of time prejudiced the appellant in that two witnesses were unavailable for trial and their testimony was read to the jury over the appellant's objection.
- 5. The court erred by denying the appellant's right to interview witnesses, about what evidence was presented to the Grand Jury.
- 6. The evidence was insufficient to convict Appellant of the offenses charged.
- 7. The court erred during jury selection in allowing the state to strike an African-American juror without providing a legitimate race neutral reason.
- 8. The trial court erred by denying the motion for mistrial based on juror misconduct.
- 9. The trial court erred by not explaining the reasonable doubt jury instruction upon request of the jury.
- 10. The trial court erred by allowing the testimony of the Medical Examiner and Juanita White to be read into evidence.

#### POINTS ON APPEAL

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE RELATING TO SLIDE Q42 DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR ALTERING CONTRARY TO ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING THE ADMISSION OF HAIR EVIDENCE FROM SLIDE Q-20 DESPITE INDICATIONS OF PROBABLE TAMPERING, ALTERING, AND DISCOVERY VIOLATION REGARDING EVIDENCE.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF FBI HAIR AND FIBER EXPERT JOSEPH A. DIZINNO. THE TRIAL COURT ALSO ERRED BY LIMITING APPELLANT'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF DIZINNO FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:
  - (A) THE TESTIMONY DID NOT MEET THE <u>FRYE</u> STANDARD.
  - (B) DIZINNO SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO TESTIFY THAT IT WAS "RARE" THAT HE COULD NOT DISTINGUISH HAIRS FROM TWO SEPARATE INDIVIDUALS.
  - (C) DIZINNO AFFIRMATIVELY MISLED THE TRIAL COURT REGARDING CHAIN OF CUSTODY AND THE EXTENT OF THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE INVESTIGATION.
  - (D) THE COURT DENIED MURRAY'S REQUEST TO CROSS-EXAMINE DIZINNO WITH INFORMATION THAT THE FBI LAB HAD BEEN UNDER INVESTIGATION WHEN MURRAY'S HAIRS WERE IN THE LAB.
  - (E) THE COURT DENIED MURRAY'S REQUEST TO CROSS-EXAMINE DIZINNO ON THE FACT THE LAB HE WAS SUPERVISING WAS UNDER INVESTIGATION AT THE TIME OF THIS TRIAL.

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