IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD D. MURRAY,

Appellant

v.

Case No. SC03-1241

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General Pl-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Concerning John Wilson and the plastic-bagged lotion bottle (IB 44-47), as discussed above, the plastic bag containing the lotion bottle became insignificant, except to show that no fingerprints were lifted from the bottle (XIII 708) and except to the degree that defense counsel attempted to make it significant as a "red herring." Appellant has failed to show where John Wilson or the prosecutor misstated or misrepresented anything.

Indeed, during this 2003 trial, defense counsel stated that he had not deposed Wilson, but he, in fact, had conducted that deposition in 1999 (XIII 738-39, 744). The State provided enormous discovery in this, and accomplice Steven Taylor's, case, yet it is no fault of the State that the defense had not prior to this trial asked Wilson a direct and simple question about the plastic bag. Hence, there was no "ambush" (IB 43, 52).

F. Any supposed error was harmless.

Much of the preceding discussion has also suggested that any supposed error was harmless. For example, Murray had the "discovery" benefit of an extensive pre-trial evidentiary hearing with full defense cross-examination. Furthermore, the incriminating evidence in this case was far more extensive than the hairs attacked in this issue, as bulleted at the end of Issue I <u>supra</u> and narrated in the Statement of Facts <u>supra</u>, for example, Murray, in essence, admitting that the hairs found at the crime scene were his.

<u>ISSUE III</u>: WHETHER RULINGS CONCERNING THE TESTIMONY OF FBI EXPERT DR. DIZINNO WERE UNREASONABLE. (RESTATED)

Issue III (IB 53-68) presents multiple issues concerning the testimony of Dr. Dizinno that hairs recovered from the victim's body (that is, Q-42, XV 907) and the garment (that is, Q-20, XIV 906) "had the same microscopic characteristics as" Murray's known pubic hairs.

A. Most of Issue III is not preserved, <u>see Farina; Harrell; Gore; Geralds; Filan; Taylor</u>, or is moot.

Defense counsel expressly conceded that Dizinno could testify that the hair is "consistent" (XIII 750), thereby waiving any such appellate claim

(See IB 53, 54, 55). Although there is no error here, this Court has held that an express waiver bars appellate review of even fundamental error. See State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("The only exception [to fundamental error] we have recognized is where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the incomplete instruction"), citing Armstrong v. State, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1991).

Murray (IB 54) points to where he objected to Dr. Dizinno's testimony based on Frye-unreliability (XIV 896), but the objection was so general it said nothing. It did not specify what protocols should be required and why they are necessary for Frye-testing. Murray (IB 55) also mentions his Twelfth Motion in Limine (II 365-66), but it focused only on excluding Dr. Dizinno from testifying "that it is rare that two hairs match and/or assigning a probability that the hairs found are that of the Defendant," (See also XIII 749-50, XIV 756-57), and given the defense's concession of his qualification to testify regarding consistency (XIII 750), it appears that the defense objection was continuing to attempt to exclude Dr. Dizinno's "rare" testimony.

Moreover, Murray fails to show where the judge ruled adversely on any motion or objection pertaining to Dizinno's anticipated testimony that it was "rare" that he could not distinguish hairs from separate individuals. Instead, "moot" is handwritten on the defense motion (II 365). Accordingly, during the trial, the Judge expressly reserved ruling until he heard Dizinno's specific conclusion and whether there is a scientific basis for it. (XIV 756-57) For this reason alone, this claim is procedurally barred.

<u>See Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 730, 740 (Fla. 1994) ("reserved ruling ... apparently never issued a ruling ..., procedurally barred").

Murray argues (IB 56) that the "trial court allowed Dizinno to testify that it was 'rare' that he could not distinguish between hairs," but he (IB 56, 57) cites to XIV 888 for the "rare"-related evidence that he now contests, which was part of counsels' <u>voir dire</u> of Dizinno, not part of Dizinno's testimony in front of the jury. Murray has failed to show where Dizinno actually testified to "rare" (or "two times out of thousands and thousands," IB 56) in front of the jury, again rendering this claim "moot" (See jury testimony at XIV 876-80, 899-933, 936-44).

Murray's complaint (IB 56-57) that Dr. Dizinno "surreptitiously provided his own statistics" overlooks that this was responsive, and without timely objection, to defense counsel's question on voir dire concerning what the witness meant by "rare that we cannot distinguish between microscopic characteristics of hair from two different individuals by side by side comparison." (XIV 888-89) Therefore, this claim targets testimony that was not admitted into evidence (before the jury), and it is thereby not only moot but also unpreserved and waived by the defense's elicitation of that voir-dire testimony. See also Rivers v. State, 792 So.2d 564, 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)("defense counsel initially preserved the issue with a timely and specific objection"; "counsel subsequently waived the right to challenge the issue on direct appeal by preemptively introducing the evidence of the prior adjudication during direct examination"); White; Behar.

Murray now on appeal discusses (IB 56, 59-60) 1997 and 2002 articles but fails to show where he provided them to the trial court. This argument is not preserved. See also Spann v. State, 857 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 2003)("trial objection was limited to the expert testimony on the issue of distortion or intentional disguise, ... Spann's argument here ... handwriting expert testimony in general should be barred"; "not properly preserved").

In contrast to Murray's current appellate narrative (IB 59-60) of a DOJ investigation and citations to 1997 and 1998 reports, during the 2003 voir dire of Dizinno in the trial court, Murray referred to 2003 and 2000 newspaper articles (XIV 884-85), which defense counsel had not even fully reviewed when he argued them to the trial court and consequently "withdrew the question" (XIV 885). Later, the defense argued that Dizinno's testimony did not meet "the Frye standard" and, after a confusing preface (See XIV 897), stated that he does not intend to 'go any further regarding Mr. Malone on whether or not the FBI lab was under investigation at the time that these hairs were in the laboratory or at least that examiner was in the laboratory." (XIV 896-97). Therefore, even though the Judge then concluded that he would not permit the defense "to go into that area" of the "Malone matter" because it involved the investigation of one person and "didn't have anything to do with Dr. Dizinno or the techniques, protocols that he used," (XIV 897) the defense had already abandoned this claim,

Murray (IB 59, 60) seems to complain on appeal that the trial court misapprehended his argument by limiting its consideration to Malone, but he overlooks that the trial court's comments responded to the defense's discussion that included reference to Malone (See XIV 897).

rendering it unpreserved.

Murray in one sentence (IB 58) throws in "Due Process" and <u>Crawford v.</u>
<u>U.S.</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Any such claims were not presented below and therefore are unpreserved, and, as undeveloped now, their non-preservation is compounded.

Later in Issue III, in the "Blythe" section of the Initial Brief, Murray (IB 66-68) returns to the FBI investigation and assumes that Dizinno's lab was under investigation. Murray tenders no record cite and fails to demonstrate that anything relevant was excluded. He attempts (IB 66-67) to invoke a statute and constitutional provisions not preserved in the trial court and not meaningfully argued on appeal. He (IB 66) slings more mud through dehors record, dehors relevancy, dehors preservation references to "Kathleen Lundy" in the ballistics section, the resignation of a DNA technician, and some statistics supposedly associated with a 2006 U.S. Supreme Court case cite, where actually, that Court denied certiorari, See Napier v. Indiana, 546 U.S. 1215 (2006). The multiple "dehors" continue with Murray's attempted invocation (IB 68) of case law concerning "actual or threatened prosecution." Murray then incorrectly infers (IB 67) that all these matters were brought to the attention of the trial court when he states that he "was not allowed to effectively cross-examine Dizinno on these allegations." To the contrary, these matters are unpreserved for appeal.

Similarly, Murray's arguments concerning Chester Blythe (IB 61, 63-64) and alleging violations of his constitutional rights (IB 66) were not

presented to the trial court and therefore, are unpreserved.

B. It was reasonable to allow Dr. Dizinno to opine regarding the microscopic consistency and inconsistency.

As discussed <u>supra</u>, the appellate standard of review for the admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion, which turns on the reasonableness of the trial court's ruling. Assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that Murray preserved for appeal a claim contesting Dr. Dizinno's opinions that were actually admitted into evidence, each of their admissions was reasonable.

There was no error in allowing Dizinno to testify concerning consistency between Murray's pubic hair and Q-42 and Q-20. See Ramirez v. State, 651 So.2d 1164, 1168 (Fla. 1995)("State is not precluded from introducing Ramirez's knife into evidence and presenting testimony that the wounds on the victim were consistent with that knife"; reversed because expert opined "that ... Ramirez's knife was the only knife in the world that could have been used in the murder"). Here, comporting with Ramirez, Dizinno expressly testified in response to defense counsel's crossexamination in front of the jury (XIV 924-25):

Q In hair examination, first of all, we can't say that it is Mr. Murray's hair, right?

A That's correct. We cannot exclude him as the hair, but hair comparings are not a means of absolute personal identification. So I can't say that that hair came from Mr. Murray to the exclusion of all others.

Defense counsel hammered the point as his last question to the witness (XIV 933):

Q *** it is not an exact science and we can't say it's exclusively somebody, are these the reasons why?

A We certainly can't say that these questioned hairs from the white garment and from the body of Alice Vest came from Gerald Murray to the exclusion of all others.

In contrast to Dizinno's testimony, the Frye test concerns novel scientific evidence. See Ramirez v. State, 651 So.2d 1164, 1166 (Fla. 1995)("expert opinion testimony concerning a new or novel scientific principle"); Spann v. State, 857 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 2003)("Forensic handwriting identification is not a new or novel science"). For example, here Dizinno himself has testified in this case in 1994 (SR5 591-92), 1998 (SR5 634-35), and 1999 (SR5 675-76) that the hairs at issue were consistent with Murray's pubic hairs. Thus, by the time that Dizinno testified in this 2003 trial, he had been qualified as an expert in "human hair and fiber analysis" about 30 times. (XIV 897-98). Here, the defense was afforded the opportunity to contest Dr. Dizinno's conclusions with their own expert's analysis (See I 113-15; V 872-73, 876), but the defense rested without presenting any evidence (See XV 1080-82, 1102).

McDonald v. State, 952 So.2d 498 (Fla. 2006)(rejecting an ineffective assistance of counsel claim), is on point:

Agent Allen conducted only a microscopic and visual comparison of the hair evidence. Visual and microscopic hair comparison is not based on new or novel scientific principles and, therefore, does not require a Frye analysis. See Jent v. State, 408 So.2d 1024, 1029 (Fla. 1981).

See also Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330, 336 (Fla. 1984)("expert concluded that the human hairs found on the pantyhose had the same characteristics as Bundy's and could have come from him"); Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492, 494 (Fla. 1980)("hair samples obtained from appellant were consistent in microscopic appearance to the hair found ... at the scene of the crime").

Murray argues (IB 55) that there were no "written protocols," and although protocols were mentioned to the trial court (XIV 896), Murray failed to argue then why they might be important to the admissibility of this evidence. Indeed, the test for the admissibility of evidence is whether it is sufficiently reliable for the jury to hear it. Protocols could be relevant, but there is no per-se protocol test for "consistency"-level opinions.

C. Appellant has not shown that Dr. Dizinno misled the trial court into improperly limiting cross-examination.

Much of the section of the Initial Brief at IB 57-63 repeats many of the self-serving inferences and groundless accusations that have been discussed under ISSUES I and II supra.²¹

_

Similarly, Murray attempts, at the last minute, to throw into the mix, in the last sentence of this section of Issue III, (IB 57), "all the hair evidence has been destroyed" and a lack of note keeping. However, he does not develop these arguments here and he did not present these arguments to the trial court as part of his argument that he says preserved this Issue (See XIV 896). He is incorrect concerning Dizinno, whose notes were presented and referenced (XIV 881-82, 906, 929-33, 914-15; SR6 806). See also footnote in Issue I supra concerning notes of other witnesses. All of the hairs collected from the crime scene were not destroyed. (See, e.g., VI 1072-76) The State also disputes Murray's repeated characterization of flawed DNA testing. While there have been some problems with testing in the history of this case, the Judge excluded DNA results in this 2003 trial because somehow some crucial photographs were lost in a prior record on appeal, and those photographs concerned DNA that was consumed in the testing process. (See VI 1087-90, 1159-61; II 300-307. See also II 367 concerning hairs "consumed during testing")

In "g" at IB 62, Murray violates several appellate principles. This paragraph of the Initial Brief contains no cite whatsoever to the record below, rendering it totally unsupported, and the State objects if Murray attempts to add untimely support in his Reply Brief. The State guesses that the matter referenced in "g" was discussed at XIV 933-35, but then the Initial Brief would be summarily reaching a conclusion that defense counsel explicitly announced to the trial court he decided he would not pursue

In 2003 Dizinno did not "confess[]" (IB 58) to anything. Instead, when previously he was asked who placed his initials on items or opened them up, he indicated an assistant under his supervision and in accord with routine procedure at the time. (SR5 630, 666, 669, 684-86; XIV 909)

If the merits of the unpreserved claims concerning the DOJ/FBI investigations are reached, they have none. 22 Murray failed to meet his relevancy-burden of showing the trial court that an investigation of one part of the "FBI lab" or on one analyst, Malone, implicates the ability or bias of another part of the lab or another analyst. In the trial court, the defense assumed, without establishing, that the "FBI lab" was one monolithic organization. Compounding his error on top of his error, Murray erroneously attempts to make this Court the evidentiary fact-finder when he, without record-support, asserts that he has "demonstrated the general sloppiness of the FBI laboratory" (IB 67). Instead of proffering evidence to the trial court with competent evidence relevant to reliability or bias, the defense mentioned in passing "newspaper articles" (XIV 884-85) and fruitlessly fished for relevant information in its voir dire of the witness

there. Therefore, this argument was abandoned, and the 2003 record was not developed on this matter.

Moreover, as <u>People v. Renteria</u>, 2005 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 11995 (California Unpublished Opinions, Cal. 5th app. Dist. 2005), points out: One of the authors of this study [that Murray cites on appeal], however, subsequently published another study which summarized his previous findings, ..., and concluded microscopic hair comparison analysis was reliable under both the Kelly/Frye and Daubert tests. (Houck et al., Locard Exchange: The Science of Forensic Hair Comparisons and the Admissibility of Hair Comparison Evidence: Frye and Daubert Considered (Mar. 2, 2004) Modern Microscopy Journal, pp. 6-8.)

(<u>See</u> XIV 882-84). A little later, defense counsel indicated that he had nothing else to present to the trial court regarding the investigation, and the judge reasonably ruled that the defense had not established any link between the purported investigation and this witness (See XIV 897).²³

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